**Manx Telecom Limited** 

**Separated Regulatory Accounts** 

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

### Contents

Purpose of the Separated Regulatory Accounts	1
Introduction	
Basis of Preparation of the Separated Accounts	
Applicable Rate of Return	5
Statement of Responsibility	6
Consolidated Income Statement	7
Notes to the Separated Regulatory Accounts	8
1. Regulatory accounting principles	8
2. Determination of markets and SMP	13
3. Categories of business	16
4. Wholesale and Retail Market Summary	19
5. Consolidated Income Statement Reconciliation	20
Annex 1: Explanatory Report	23

### Purpose of the Separated Regulatory Accounts

These Separated Regulatory Accounts are prepared in accordance with Condition 85.2.8 of Manx Telecom's Telecommunications Licence issued under the Communications Act 2021 (the 'Act') (which replaced the Telecommunications Act 1984) which provides the basis for requiring separated accounts to be provided to the Isle of Man Communications and Utilities Regulatory Authority ("CURA") (the "Purpose"):

Conditions requiring the licenceholder to maintain a separation for accounting purposes between such different matters relating to —

- (i) network access to the relevant network; or
- (ii) the availability of the relevant facilities;

as the Authority may from time to time direct, including conditions imposing requirements about the accounting methods to be used in maintaining the separation.

The accounting methods used in maintaining the separation as compared to those used in the preparation and maintenance of Manx Telecom's accounting records and published Statutory Financial Statements are discussed on pages 6 to 9 of this document.

These Separated Regulatory Accounts are not prepared under accounting standards or generally accepted accounting principles. The only stipulations relating to their form and content are imposed under Licence Condition 85.2.8 as set out above and any Decision Notices issued by the Isle of Man Communications Commission to ensure the satisfaction of that and any other relevant Licence Conditions.

As such, this document should not be used for any reason other than to satisfy the Purpose described above including, but not limited to, use in making investment decisions and understanding the financial performance and position of Manx Telecom.

In no circumstances shall Manx Telecom be liable for any loss or damage (including, without limitation, damage for loss of business or loss of profits) arising directly or indirectly from use of or inability to use, this document or any of the material contained within it.

### Introduction

In 2020 the Isle of Man Communications Commission ("IOMCC") was renamed to Communications and Utilities Regulatory Authority ("CURA") in order to better describe its new remit as identified via the Communications and Regulatory Authority Order 2020. In this document, and in an attempt to limit complexity, any reference to IOMCC and / or CURA shall have the same meaning. In addition, 'regulator' shall be held to have the same meaning as IOMCC and / or CURA.

The Manx Telecom Limited group ("Manx Telecom") has prepared its Separated Regulatory Accounts (the "Separated Accounts") for the year ended 31 December 2023 based on the following categories of business:

- regulated markets in which Manx Telecom has significant market power;
- defined markets in which Manx Telecom does not have significant market power; and
- unregulated markets.

In 2012 the Isle of Man Communications Commission ("IOMCC") issued a series of Notifications of Market Power Determination ("Decision Notices") defining the regulated markets in which Manx Telecom operates along with a designation of significant market power ("SMP"), where applicable. Where a market has no SMP designation but would be subject to regulation if there were a determination of SMP, this market is classified as a defined market in which Manx Telecom does not have significant market power.

The decision notices identified the following categories of markets:

- Decision notice 2012/01 Retail fixed markets
- Decision notice 2012/02 Wholesale fixed markets
- Decision notice 2012/03 Mobile Communications Markets (retail and wholesale)

The categories of business used in the preparation of the Separated Accounts are disaggregated further in the notes to the Separated Accounts on pages 6 to 18 to reflect this distinction between retail and wholesale markets. The markets can be summarised as follows:

Category of business	Market name
Regulated market in which Manx Telecom has	Retail fixed access market
significant market power	Retail voice calls from a fixed location
	Retail dedicated capacity (leased lines)
	Wholesale call origination
	Wholesale call termination
	Wholesale broadband access
	Wholesale on-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)
	Wholesale mobile call termination
Defined market in which Manx Telecom does not	Retail fixed broadband
have significant market power	Retail mobile communications
	Wholesale mobile access and call origination
	Wholesale off-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)
Unregulated markets	Hosting
	Business development (OV)
	Handsets and accessories
	Emergencies
	Telephone directories

In 2019, CURA issued a series of Decision Notices to further inform on the Market:-

- Decision notice 2019/01 Wholesale Local Access Regulated market where MT is designated as having SMP
- Decision notice 2019/02 Wholesale Broadband Access Regulated market where MT is designated as having SMP
- Decision notice 2019/03 Wholesale Fixed Voice Call Termination Regulated market where MT is designated as having SMP
- Decision notice 2019/04 Wholesale Traditional Interface Leased Lines Regulated market where MT is designated as having SMP
- Decision notice 2019/05 Wholesale Modern Interface Leased Lines Regulated market where MT is designated as having SMP
- Decision notice 2019/06 Retail Fixed Access Regulated market where MT is designated as having SMP
- Decision notice 2019/07 Retail Traditional Interface Leased Lines Regulated market where MT is designated as having SMP

For the new market "Retail Modern Interface Leased Lines", CURA determined that Manx Telecom does not have SMP.

For the existing market "Retail voice calls from a fixed location", CURA determined that Manx Telecom no longer has SMP in this market.

For the existing market "Wholesale call origination", CURA determined that Manx Telecom no longer has SMP in this market.

Category of business	Market name
Regulated market in which Manx Telecom has	Wholesale Local Access
significant market power	Wholesale Broadband Access
	Wholesale Fixed Voice Call Termination
	Wholesale Traditional Interface Leased Lines
	Wholesale Modern Interface Leased Lines
	Retail Fixed Access
	Retail Traditional Interface Leased Lines
Defined market in which Manx Telecom does not	Retail Modern Interface Leased Lines
have significant market power	Retail voice calls from a fixed location
	Wholesale call origination

In 2020, CURA issued a further Decision Notices relating to Mobile Markets. The outcome of the review was that existing Market determinations would be maintained.

The result of these reviews and determinations is that the Market framework is now:-

Category of business	Market name
Regulated market in which Manx	Retail fixed access
Telecom has significant market power	Retail traditional interface on-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)
	Wholesale call termination
	Wholesale broadband access
	Wholesale traditional interface on-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)
	Wholesale modern interface on-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)
	Wholesale Local Access
	Wholesale mobile call termination
Defined market in which Manx Telecom	Retail fixed broadband
does not have significant market power	Retail mobile communications
	Wholesale mobile access and call origination
	Wholesale off-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)
	Retail Modern Interface on-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)
	Retail voice calls from a fixed location
	Wholesale call origination
Unregulated markets	Hosting
	Business development (OV)
	Handsets and accessories
	Emergencies
	Telephone directories

### Basis of Preparation of the Separated Accounts

Wherever possible, revenue and costs have been directly associated with a category of business, market or network element using information recorded within Manx Telecom's accounting records. If no such direct association is possible, the revenue and costs have been apportioned between the categories of business, market or network element on a basis that reflects the causality of the revenue or cost.

In selecting appropriate attribution methods and appropriate non-financial data for use within the attribution models employed in the production of these Separated Accounts, Manx Telecom has had to make certain estimates and exercise its judgement. Manx Telecom will continue to review and update the cost allocation methods used on an ongoing basis and where deemed appropriate, will make necessary improvements.

Further details of the attribution methodologies used are set out in the notes to these Separated Accounts on pages 8 to 21.

The Separated Accounts are based on a revised accounting separation model developed by CURA with support from Manx Telecom. This model uses the published statutory accounts (the "Statutory Financial Statements") for the year ended 31 December 2023 as the basis for the calculations. A change to previous methodologies has been undertaken in collaboration with, and at the direction of, CURA to re-target the allocation of network assets on an historical cost basis. Further details on the regulatory accounting principles followed are provided in note 1 on page 8. A reconciliation between the Statutory Financial Statements and the Separated Accounts is provided in note 5.

### **Applicable Rate of Return**

In 2022, CURA undertook a consultation to determine the appropriateness of the utilised rate of return for the Telecoms sector (8.9%) to be used as part of the Separated Accounts. Following a number of discussions on the matter with interested parties, CURA determined (05/24:Final Response To Telecom WACC Implementation Consultation) that the applicable rate of return used in these Separated Accounts is 6.1%.

For more information on how the applicable rate of return is determined and used, refer to publications on the CURA website.

### Statement of Responsibility

Manx Telecom has been directed under Condition 85.2.8 of its Telecommunications Licence ("the Licence"), issued under the Communications Act 2021, to maintain a separation for accounting purposes between such different matters relating to Network Access to the Relevant Network as the Commission may from time to time direct, as well as conditions imposing requirements about the accounting methods to be used in maintaining the separation.

These Separated Regulatory Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023 are comprised of a Consolidated Income Statement with accompanying notes to the Separated Regulatory Accounts including:

- i. a summary of business categories and market definitions;
- ii. a wholesale and retail market summary of the income statement; and
- iii. a statement of reconciliation of Regulatory Accounts to Statutory Accounts.

The Directors of Manx Telecom Limited confirm that the Separated Regulatory Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been reconciled to the relevant Statutory Financial Statements and, to the best of their knowledge, have been prepared in accordance with:

- i. Condition 85.2.8 of Manx Telecom's Licence; and
- ii. The Accounting Separation Methodology submitted to CURA in support of these accounts.

Signed for and on behalf of the Board of Manx Telecom Limited on 25/3/2005 by:

Jarla Hughes

Chief Financial Officer

Manx Telecom Limited Separated Regulatory Accounts 2023

## Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2023

	External revenue Transfer charges Total Revenue	Costs Transfer charges Total costs	Return
Regulæed P. O.	9,968 16,693 26,661	(18,371) (6,737) (25,108)	1,553
Megulæed 5.2 Megulæed 5.2 Medis with SMP 5.2	10,431 16,178 26,609	(19,166) (6,929) (26,095)	514

\* Note that total revenue and costs as reported above do not represent actual revenue from transactions with customers as they include internal transfer charges. A reconciliation between these figures and revenue reported in the Statutory Financial Statements is included in note 5 on page 20.

### Notes to the Separated Regulatory Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023

### 1. Regulatory accounting principles

Manx Telecom Limited ('the Company') is a company incorporated and domiciled in the Isle of Man in accordance with the Isle of Man Companies Act 2006. The Group Statutory Financial Statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as 'the Group').

The information contained in these notes has been extracted from the same models and files used for the preparation of the Separated Accounts and so follows the same basis of preparation.

These Separated Accounts are based on Manx Telecom's 2020 accounting separation model. This model uses the published statutory accounts (the "Statutory Financial Statements") for the year ended 31 December 2023 as the basis for the calculations.

### 1.1 Method of preparing accounting records

Manx Telecom is a unitary business sharing a common network and support functions. It consists of several customer-facing divisions and divisions responsible for providing customers with communications services, as well as divisions responsible for the design, operation and maintenance of its access, core and mobile networks, and providing and maintaining customer connections to these networks.

Manx Telecom records its financial transactions in the accounting records in accordance with the legal requirements of the Isle of Man Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards. Within these records detailed data is maintained in respect of the way in which transactions have arisen. Assets, liabilities, income and costs are recorded by type.

Revenue is classified according to internal product groupings. However, the Group is not structured on a market basis and has functional departments, processes, assets and obligations which serve multiple revenue streams. Consequently, the statutory financial statements do not disclose any segmentation of profits and net assets. Details of the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Statutory Financial Statements can be obtained in the latest annual report and accounts.

### 1.2 Method of preparing separated accounts

The structure of the Separated Accounts required by CURA does not correspond to the way in which the statutory accounting records of Manx Telecom are structured. The Separated Accounts have therefore been prepared by overlaying CURA's requirements on the accounting records and management structure of Manx Telecom. The Separated Accounts have been prepared by attributing the balances in Manx Telecom's general ledgers and other accounting records to the categories of businesses and markets set out by CURA, following the guidance arising from the various market reviews.

To create the reporting of the Separated Regulatory Accounts for the period 2023, Manx Telecom and CURA have used the model developed to determine the simpler approach to the process, as agreed in 2020. This approach was proposed by CURA and is based upon a recognition of 'Network

### 1. Regulatory accounting principles (continued)

Elements' which are the building blocks for each service provided in a market. The allocation to Network Elements relates to cost allocation only, with costs allocated directly to Network Elements, and then allocated across markets on a basis reflective of causality using an appropriate 'driver'.

Wherever possible, revenue and costs have been directly associated with a category of business or market using information recorded within Manx Telecom's accounting records. If no such direct association is possible, the revenue and costs have been apportioned between the categories of business or market on a basis that reflects the causality of the revenue or cost.

The main categories of costs and the methods by which they are apportioned are set out below.

### **Remuneration costs**

As far as practicable, pay costs are allocated directly to the network element and market to which the relevant employees provide services.

If the individual's role does not relate to specific markets or network elements (for example human resources personnel) or there is a proportion of their time which does not, then this is either classed as a common cost or outside the scope of the bottom up models. Common costs are described in more detail below. Costs which are classified as outside the scope of the bottom up models cannot be allocated to any of the identified markets and so are excluded from the separated accounts.

Where a particular individual or department's time can be allocated to specific markets on a basis supportable by data captured within Manx Telecom's systems, it is.

### Computer and network systems maintenance costs

Systems maintenance costs are allocated similarly to pay costs, insomuch as, where costs can be attributed to systems used by specific markets or network elements, they are allocated directly or on the basis of allocation keys or drivers which attribute costs on the basis of one or more aspects of 'causality'. If no suitable allocation is available, the costs may be treated as common costs.

### **Energy costs**

Energy costs are allocated according to the meter for which energy consumption is billed. The locations of meters are used to determine the cost driver (for example purpose of building or cabinet consuming the energy) and hence the appropriate markets or network elements to which the costs should be allocated.

### 1. Regulatory accounting principles (continued)

### **Common costs**

As stated above, Manx Telecom uses, wherever possible, objective data relating to cost allocation. There is however some expenditure for which no specific apportionment basis can be determined. These costs mainly represent central overheads such as central accounting and human resources functions. Common costs are costs which cannot be directly attributed to a specific network element or market. They are apportioned across markets using an equi-proportional mark-up approach. This means that any market will receive a proportionate allocation of unattributable costs equal to its proportionate allocation of attributable costs.

### **Capital costs**

Within the Statutory Financial Statements, fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation with depreciation calculated based on that historical cost, subject to the revaluation of land and buildings.

Consistent with the approach to the allocation of other costs, fixed assets are determined to be aligned to specific network elements and / or markets, with the resultant depreciation allocated accordingly.

To ensure that costs reflect a return for Manx Telecom, Capital costs include an Applicable Rate of Return based on the weighted average cost of capital determined by CURA and subject to periodic review. A reconciliation statement detailing the adjustments made between the Statutory Financial Statements and the figures used in the accounting separation model is included in note 5.

The notes to the Separated Accounts include a disaggregation of the regulatory accounts into a Wholesale and Retail Market Summary (note 4) for regulated markets with SMP and for regulated markets which have been defined by the regulator but for which no SMP designation has been made for Manx Telecom, as well as those markets which are unregulated.

During the period of review, Manx Telecom and the Department for Enterprise ('DfE') have continued the collaboration to accelerate fibre broadband services into the remote areas of the Island. The project involves DfE supporting the provision of fibre through the payment of a subvention to Manx Telecom as suggested as a result of an extensive consultation (directed by Dote-com) and agreed through a competitive tender process. It is noted that the separated accounting rationale would determine that this support effectively reduces the capital outlay for assets created for the fibre broadband services which would otherwise provide an Applicable Rate of Return (see above). This relates solely to the separated accounting process. To achieve this the support provided is recorded and 'amortised' over the equivalent life of the applicable assets, and applied to the depreciation costs in the model as a credit to the network elements to which the costs are applied.

A reconciliation note to the statutory accounts is provided at Note 5, page 21.

### 1. Regulatory accounting principles (continued)

### 1.3 Transfer charges

Within the statutory accounting records maintained by Manx Telecom, no revenue or costs are recorded for services provided internally. In preparing the Separated Accounts, transfer charges between different markets were calculated in accordance with the principles outlined below.

### 1.3.1 Wholesale charges

The wholesale markets sell a range of network and wholesale services to meet the needs of other operators and the retail markets. Wholesale services are charged to the retail markets at the relevant wholesale price as would be charged to other Licensed Operators. No price discrimination occurs between sales made by Manx Telecom wholesale to other licenced operators and its own retail or downstream businesses.

Where Manx Telecom's markets sell services to each other, they are set at a rate equivalent to the charge that would be levied if the product or service were sold externally rather than internally to ensure that no preferential treatment is given to markets within Manx Telecom.

The transfer charges use existing published wholesale prices where available. Where no such price exists, the determinants of the price will take account of any direct costs associated with the service as well as the cost of capital and the capital used to provide the service. CURA has agreed the weighted average cost of capital (the Applicable Rate of Return) to be applied in the Accounting Separation model as 6.1%.

### 1.3.2 Reporting of transfer charges

The Separated Accounts record transfer charges as specified above as:

- revenue accruing in one distinct separated market
- a matching operating cost recognised in another separated market

The main transfer charging processes are explained below:

- i. Wholesale on-island dedicated capacity Manx Telecom's retail markets provide local leased lines to retail customers. This transfer charge reflects the charges that a licenced operator external to the Manx Telecom group would incur if it were to purchase the same volume and mix of leased lines. The total is charged as a cost to the retail dedicated capacity (leased lines) market and revenue to Manx Telecom's wholesale on-island dedicated capacity market. This applies to both the traditional interface market, and the modern interface market.
- ii. Retail Broadband Services (IP Stream, DSL and FTTP services) the retail fixed broadband markets make use of wholesale broadband services. The full wholesale charge for services used by the retail fixed broadband market is transfer charged.
- iii. Retail Fixed Access—the retail fixed access market makes use of wholesale services. The full wholesale charge for services used by the retail fixed access market is transfer charged.

### 1. Regulatory accounting principles (continued)

iv. Mobile termination – Manx Telecom's Retail voice calls from a fixed location and Retail mobile communications markets both benefit from termination of calls to mobile customers. The charge to these markets is transferred as a cost to them and a revenue in the wholesale mobile call termination market.

## 2. Determination of markets and SMP

Within CURA's Decision Notices described on page 2, Manx Telecom was identified as operating in the following separable, markets:

Retail markets market and access SMP The provision of a physical connection from a fixed location to the public telephone newton a fixed line including calls from a fixed line, including calls to liste of Man mobiles and and calls off-island to fixed and mobile and landline fixed location fixed location and calls off-island to fixed and mobile numbers. Calls from both business and calls off-island to fixed and mobile and landline and calls off-island to fixed and mobile and landline and calls off-island to fixed and mobile and landline and calls off-island to fixed and mobile and landline and calls off-island to fixed and mobile and business and excluded in the market, but calls from both business and excluded in the market, but calls from mobiles and excludes and calls off-island to fixed and mobile numbers. Calls from both business and excluded in the market, but calls from mobiles and excluded in the market, but calls from mobiles and excludes and call edicated capacity which provides broadly symmetric capacity between two points, where there is no switching, and the connection is dedicated to the use two points, where there is no switching, and the connection is dedicated to the use two points, where there is no switching, and the connection is dedicated to the use through and the connection of the fixed business and where available) FTTx. It excludes no fine and excludes mobile broadband of signation and where available) FTTx. It excludes a capacity of the for call services originated on the fixed public telecommunications network.  Wholesale call SMP For call services terminating on the fixed public telecommunications network.  Wholesale broadband SMP For call services originated on the fixed public telecommunications network.  SMP For call services originated on the fixed public telecommunications network.  Wholesale broadband SMP For call services originated on the fixed public telecommunications network.  Wholesale broadband some the for Separated Accounts purposes, this market for wholesale access fro	<b>Decision Notice</b>	Market name	SMP designation	Description
Retail voice calls from a fixed location fixed location  Retail dedicated capacity SMP (leased lines)  Wholesale call SMP origination Wholesale call termination Wholesale broadband SMP access	2012/01	Retail fixed access	SMP	The provision of a physical connection from a fixed location to the public telephone
Retail voice calls from a fixed location fixed location (leased lines)  Retail dedicated capacity SMP (leased lines)  Wholesale call SMP origination Wholesale call SMP termination Wholesale broadband SMP access	Retail markets	market		network. This market is separate from the services carried over the physical
Retail voice calls from a fixed location  Retail dedicated capacity (leased lines)  Retail fixed broadband No SMP origination Wholesale call SMP termination Wholesale broadband SMP access				connection. It includes access from homes and offices.
fixed location  Retail dedicated capacity (leased lines)  Retail fixed broadband No SMP origination Wholesale call SMP termination Wholesale broadband SMP access		Retail voice calls from a	SMP	Includes all calls from a fixed line, including calls to Isle of Man mobiles and landlines,
Retail dedicated capacity (leased lines)  Retail fixed broadband No SMP  Wholesale call SMP  termination SMP  Wholesale broadband SMP  access		fixed location		and calls off-island to fixed and mobile numbers. Calls from both business and
Retail dedicated capacity (leased lines)  Retail fixed broadband No SMP  Wholesale call SMP  veryination SMP  Wholesale broadband SMP  access				residential customers are included in the market, but calls from mobiles are
Retail dedicated capacity (leased lines)  Retail fixed broadband No SMP  Wholesale call SMP  termination SMP  Wholesale broadband SMP  access				excluded.
(leased lines)  Retail fixed broadband No SMP  Wholesale call SMP  termination  Wholesale broadband SMP  access		Retail dedicated capacity	SMP	Includes all dedicated capacity which provides broadly symmetric capacity between
Retail fixed broadband No SMP Wholesale call Origination Wholesale call termination Wholesale broadband SMP access	-	(leased lines)		two points, where there is no switching, and the connection is dedicated to the user.
Retail fixed broadband No SMP  Wholesale call SMP  termination  Wholesale broadband SMP  access				The market definition is technologically neutral and would include SDH, PDH and
Retail fixed broadband No SMP  Wholesale call Origination Wholesale broadband SMP access				Ethernet point-to-point services.
Wholesale call origination Wholesale call termination Wholesale broadband access		Retail fixed broadband	No SMP	Includes xDSL, Fixed Wireless Access and (when and where available) FTTx. It
Wholesale call SMP origination Wholesale call SMP termination Wholesale broadband SMP access				excludes narrowband internet access and leased lines and excludes mobile
Wholesale call origination Wholesale call termination Wholesale broadband SMP access				broadband.
Wholesale call SMP termination Wholesale broadband SMP access	2012/02	Wholesale call	SMP	For call services originated on the fixed public telecommunications network.
Wholesale call SMP termination Wholesale broadband SMP access	Wholesale fixed	origination		
SMP	markets	Wholesale call	SMP	For call services terminating on the fixed public telecommunications network.
SMP	-	termination		
		Wholesale broadband	SMP	For Separated Accounts purposes, this market represents all wholesale access
associated with the provision of retail narrowband access (for w wholesale market was defined).  The provision of physical and non-physical connection. This mai the services carried over the connection. It includes access from		access		services, including the market for wholesale broadband access and wholesale inputs
wholesale market was defined).  The provision of physical and non-physical connection. This mare the connection. It includes access from	* 4			associated with the provision of retail narrowband access (for which no separate
The provision of physical and non-physical connection. This mare the connection. It includes access from				wholesale market was defined).
The provision of physical and non-physical connection. This mar the connection. It includes access from				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
נוופ זכן זוכים למווופר נוופ בסוווופר ווופן מרכים או ווופן מרכים או וויפן מרכים או וויפן מרכים או וויפן מרכים או				The provision of physical and non-physical connection. This market is separate from the conjugations carried over the connection. It includes account from homos and affices
				נווב אבו עוכבא כמודובת טעבו נוופ בסווווברנוטוו. זר וווכוממבא מברבאא ווטוו ווטווובא מוומ טווובבא.

# 2. Determination of markets and SMP (continued)

le fixed			Description
	Wholesale on-island	SMP	Includes all dedicated capacity which provides broadly symmetric capacity between
	dedicated capacity		two points (both located on-island), where there is no switching, and the connection
	(leased lines)		is dedicated to the user. The market definition is technologically neutral and would
markets			include SDH, PDH and Ethernet point-to-point services.
(continued) Wh	Wholesale off-island	No SMP	Includes all dedicated capacity which provides broadly symmetric capacity between
dec	dedicated capacity		two points (one of which is an off-island location), where there is no switching, and
(les	(leased lines)		the connection is dedicated to the user. The market definition is technologically
•			neutral and would include SDH, PDH and Ethernet point-to-point services.
			On further consultation, it was determined that, as Manx Telecom only purchases
			wholesale off-island dedicated capacity and does not supply in this market, that
			there is no SMP designation.
- Wh	Wholesale mobile call	SMP	For call services terminating on the mobile network.
teri	termination		
2012/03 Ret	Retail mobile	No SMP	Services offered over the mobile network.
Mobile	communications		
Communications   Wh	Wholesale mobile access	No SMP	The provision of a mobile connection for call services to the public telephone
Markets and	and call origination		network.
2019/01 Wh	Wholesale local access	SMP	The provision of a physical connection from a fixed location to the public telephone
Fixed Market			network. This market is separate from the services carried over the physical
Review			connection. It includes access from homes and offices.
2019/02 Wh	Wholesale Broadband	SMP	See decision notice 2012/02 – Wholesale Broadband Access
Fixed Market Acc	Access		
Review			
2019/03 Wh	Wholesale Fixed Voice	SMP	See decision notice 2012/02 – Wholesale Call Termination
Fixed Market   Call	Call Termination		
Review			

# 2. Determination of markets and SMP (continued)

2019/04 Wholesale Traditional Fixed Market Interface Leased Lines Review Wholesale Modern Fixed Market Interface Leased Lines Review Review Review Review Review Review Retail Traditional	lal SMP	
	-	includes dedicated capacity which provides broadly symmetric capacity between
	-	two points (both located on-island), where there is no switching, and the connection
		is dedicated to the user. The market definition relates specifically to 'kiloline' and
		'megaline' technology which is end-of-life and is likely to be phased out during the
		course of the current review.
	SMP	Includes dedicated capacity which provides broadly symmetric capacity between
	les	two points (both located on-island), where there is no switching, and the connection
		is dedicated to the user. The market definition relates specifically to all dedicated
		capacity LACET NIOMIE and MERGINIE LECTIONS.
	AMP.	See decision notice 2012/01 – Retail Fixed Access Market
	SMP	Includes dedicated capacity which provides broadly symmetric capacity between
Fixed Market Interface Leased Lines	les	two points, where there is no switching, and the connection is dedicated to the user.
Review		The market definition includes 'kiloline' and 'megaline' services.
N/A Retail Modern Interface	face No SMP	Includes all other dedicated capacity (except 'kiloline and 'megaline') which provides
2019 Fixed Lines		broadly symmetric capacity between two points (both located on-island), where
Market Review		there is no switching, and the connection is dedicated to the user.
N/A Retail voice calls from a	m a No SMP	See decision notice 2012/02 – Retail voice calls from a fixed location
2019 Fixed fixed location		
Market Review		
N/A Wholesale Call	No SMP	See decision notice 2012/02 – Wholesale Call Origination
2019 Fixed Origination		
Market Review		

### 3. Categories of business

These Separated Accounts have been prepared such that all markets have been allocated to a category of business with three categories of business identified:

- regulated markets in which Manx Telecom has significant market power;
- defined markets in which Manx Telecom does not have significant market power; and
- unreguläted markets.

Within each category of business for regulated and defined markets, a further categorisation between retail and wholesale business has been made. Retail business includes activities related to the sale of services to end customers. Wholesale business includes activities related to the sale of services to other operators and sales of wholesale inputs or products to Manx Telecom's own retail or downstream arm. The markets have been categorised as follows:

Category of business	Retail or wholesale	Market name	Decision Notice
Regulated	Wholesale	Wholesale call termination	2019/03
markets with		Wholesale broadband access	2019/02
SMP		Wholesale traditional interface on-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)	2019/04
		Wholesale modern interface on-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)	2019/05
		Wholesale mobile call termination	2012/03
		Wholesale Local Access	2019/01
	Retail	Retail fixed access	2019/06
		Retail traditional interface on-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)	2019/07
Defined	Wholesale	Wholesale mobile access and call origination	2012/03
markets		Wholesale call origination	2019/NA
without SMP		Wholesale off-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)	2012/02
	Retail	Retail fixed broadband	2012/01
		Retail mobile communications	2012/03
		Retail voice calls from a fixed location	2019/NA
		Retail Modern Interface on-island dedicated capacity (leased lines)	2019/NA

The unregulated markets category of business includes all other business undertaken by Manx Telecom which does not fall under any of the markets identified by the CURA in the Decision Notices and so relates to competitive markets. The main sources of revenue in unregulated markets include but are not limited to:

- Business Development (e.g. OV, Smartroam, Vannin Ventures and Partitionware) which
  consists of revenues from off-island customers including services such as mobile
  termination, strongest signal mobile and machine to machine;
- Hosting services;
- Solutions and technology sales (Synapse 360);
- Handsets and accessories; and
- Telephone directories.

### 3. Categories of business (continued)

### 3.1 Markets categorised as wholesale

The wholesale market figures contain the revenues and costs of that part of Manx Telecom's business providing interconnection and wholesale services to other operators or, similar services provided to the Manx Telecom retail markets including the Core, Access and Mobile networks over which these products are provided.

### The revenues are:

- i. the amounts due from other operators for the provision of interconnection and wholesale services; and
- ii. the amounts attributable by Manx Telecom from its downstream retail businesses in respect of similar or equivalent services provided to other operators.

### The costs are the capital and operating costs of:

- apparatus and systems used in providing the fixed telecommunications services consisting of the conveyance of messages and information including calling, leased lines and managed data services, including ISAMs, local loop and line cards;
- ii. network operation centre services.
- iii. the land, cables, ducts, poles, plant and facilities associated with the activities and services described in paragraph (i) above;
- iv. the mobile switching and radio access equipment and other apparatus and systems used in providing the mobile telecommunications services consisting of the conveyance of messages and information including calling and data;
- v. including, without limitation, the costs of planning, installing, removing, moving, adjusting, maintaining, monitoring and controlling, and undertaking any other necessary operations in respect of, these things and the costs of the equipment and facilities used in undertaking these activities;
- vi. the costs of dealing and communicating with other operators, international operators and others who convey messages for which payments are made, including, without limitation, the costs of rendering bills to, and collecting payments from other operators in respect of the activities and services described above;
- vii. the costs of improving and developing the facilities, equipment, systems, processes and procedures used in providing the activities and services described above; and
- viii. the costs of any overheads and any other appropriate costs attributed to the activities causing the costs described above to be incurred.

- 3. Categories of business (continued)
- 3.2 Markets categorised as retail

The retail market figures contain the revenues, costs, assets and liabilities associated with retailing constituent services to third parties. The businesses will purchase from the Manx Telecom Wholesale Business, via transfer charges, the network services required to provide their customers with services.

Separated Regulatory Accounts 2023 Manx Telecom Limited

# 4. Wholesale and Retail Market Summary

For the year ended 31 December 2023

			Wholesal	Wholesale markets			Retai	Retail markets
		R	sgulated mar	Regulated markets with SMP	d.		Regulated m	Regulated markets with SMP
	Wholesale call termination	Wholesale on-Island dedicated capacity - Traditional Interface	Wholesale broadband access	moitenimist lles sildom slessionW	Wholesale (fixed) local access	Wholesale on-Island dedicated capacity - Modern Interface	- Ysesail on-Island dedicated capacity - Traditional Interface dedicated Ysiosqeo	Retail fixed access market
-	000.3	€,000	€.000	€,000	€'000	€.000	000.3	000.3
External revenue	256	3	2,182	184	504	692	09	5,712
ransfer charges	41	104	7,964	495	800'9	2,104	•	•
Total Revenue	273	108	10,146	926	6,511	2,873	9	5,712
Costs	(86)	(81)	(7,237)	(88)	(8,131)	(1,802)	(38)	(568)
ransfer charges	•	(8)	(2,003)	(785)	-	(108)	(104)	(3,729)
fotal costs	(86)	(88)	(9,240)	(874)	(8,131)	(1,910)	(145)	(4,624)
Return	175	19	907	102	(1,620)	963	(82)	1,088

Manx Telecom Limited Separated Regulatory Accounts 2023

4. Wholesale and Retail Market Summary (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Regulated markets with SMP   Regulated markets with SMP   Regulated markets with SMP   Regulated markets with SMP   Regulated call cermination   Publicational accesses   From   Publicational   Publication				Wholesale markets	e markets			Retail markets	narkets
Value   Contract   C		:		Regulated mar	kets with SMP			Regulated mar	kets with SMI
venue         270         £'000         £			lsland dedicated capacity - Traditional				Island dedicated capacity - Modern	dedicated capacity - Traditional Interface dedicated	Retail fixed access
venue         270         3         1,880         580         552         871           nue         295         132         8,876         1,358         6,074         2,177         -           nue         295         132         8,876         1,358         6,625         3,048         -           larges         -         (104)         (113)         (6,956)         (90)         (8,790)         (1,685)         (1           larges         -         (104)         (124)         (8,352)         (977)         (8,790)         (1,801)         (15           191         8         524         381         (2,165)         1,248         (13		000.3		€.000	000.3	€,000	000.3	000.3	000.3
venue         270         3         1,880         580         552         871         -           larges         25         128         6,996         778         6,074         2,177         -           nue         295         132         8,876         1,358         6,625         3,048         -           nue         (104)         (113)         (6,956)         (90)         (8,790)         (1,685)         (6           larges         -         (104)         (124)         (8,352)         (977)         (8,790)         (1,801)         (15           191         8         524         381         (2,165)         1,248         (15									
ranges         25         128         6,996         778         6,074         2,177         -           nue         295         132         8,876         1,358         6,625         3,048         -           larges         -         (104)         (113)         (6,956)         (90)         (8,790)         (1,685)         (1           larges         -         (104)         (124)         (8,352)         (977)         (8,790)         (1,801)         (15           larges         -         (104)         (124)         (8,352)         (977)         (8,790)         (1,801)         (15	External revenue	270	3	1,880	280	552	871	61	6,214
nue         295         132         8,876         1,358         6,625         3,048         (1,685)         (1,681)	Transfer charges	25	128	966'9	778	6,074	2,177	•	
larges - (104) (113) (6,956) (90) (8,790) (1,685) (116) (1,04) (124) (8,352) (977) (8,790) (1,801) (1,801)	Total Revenue	295	132	8,876	1,358	6,625	3,048	61	6,214
(104)         (113)         (6,956)         (90)         (8,790)         (1,685)           earges         -         (10)         (1,397)         (888)         -         (116)           (104)         (124)         (8,352)         (977)         (8,790)         (1,801)           191         8         524         381         (2,165)         1,248									
larges         (104)         (1,397)         (888)         (116)         (1,397)         (888)         (116)         (116)         (116)         (11801)         (11801)         (1,801)	Costs	(104)	(113)	(956'9)	(06)	(8,790)	(1,685)	(62)	(1,366)
(104)         (124)         (8,352)         (977)         (8,790)         (1,801)           191         8         524         381         (2,165)         1,248	Transfer charges	•	(01)	(1,397)	(888)	*	(116)	(128)	(4,391)
191 8 524 381 (2.165) 1.248	Total costs	(104)	(124)	(8,352)	(226)	(8,790)	(1,801)	(161)	(5,757)
191 8 524 381 (2.165) 1.248									
	Return	191	8	524	381	(2,165)	1,248	(130)	457

Manx Telecom Limited Separated Regulatory Accounts 2023

5. Consolidated Income Statement Reconciliation For the year ended 31 December 2023

	Return £'000	187
31 Dec 2022	Costs £'000	(20,148)
	Revenue £'000	20,335
	Return £'000	547
:1 Dec 2023	Costs £'000	(20,342)
m	Revenue £'000	20,888
		rkets with SMP with SMP
		Wholesale regulated markets with SMP Retail regulated markets with SMP

Dividends declared by Manx Telecom which are included in the Statutory Financial Statements are excluded from the Separated Accounts.

### 5. Consolidated Income Statement Reconciliation (continued)

The main adjustments between the Statutory Financial Statements and the separated accounts are as follows:

- Manx Telecom's own use of wholesale fixed, and mobile telecoms services derived from components of its own networks are treated as a wholesale cost and recharged to the appropriate categories of business and market as internal transfer charges; and
- The annual capital costs are expressed in terms of a depreciation charge derived with
  reference to the asset base, the asset lives detailed in the Manx Telecom fixed asset register
  and a cost of capital based on applying the regulated weighted average cost of capital rate to
  the derived depreciation value of the asset base; and
- A derived charge / credit relating to the support received as a result of the implementation of the National Broadband Plan ('NBP'); and
- In year investment related to the provision of services connected (mainly) to the expansion of the fibre network, and other services; and
- Interest payable and similar finance income and costs including fair value gains and losses on interest rate swaps and net interest on pension asset or liability are not included within the accounting separation model so as to be consistent with the calculation of cost of capital; and
- Dividends payable are not included within the accounting separation model to be consistent with the calculation of cost of capital.
- Assets which still lie within AICC, for which are now in use and not yet moved, have been declared within the separated accounts model and adjusted accordingly.

### Annex 1: Explanatory Report

This explanatory report sets out and clarifies trends relating to markets including, where applicable, any significant impact on the Group's business from Regulatory Decisions published by the Isle of Man Communications Commission.

Where applicable, the report includes commentary in respect of:

- Trends relating to revenue and costs by market;
- Significant period on period movements in the reported performance;
- One-off or exceptional events in the period; and
- The impact of material changes in accounting policies, methodologies and estimation techniques and the extent to which they impact on the Group's Separated Accounts.

Overall, there was an increase in costs in 2023 compared to 2022. Cost increases in the Wholesale regulated markets were driven primarily by the increases arising from the significant investment in fibre and associated technologies in the network.

### Regulatory developments in the year

During 2023, a consultation on the regulated weighted average cost of capital was concluded, with the results being a reduction from the previous 8.9% to 6.1%. The Authority's Decision is that the revised WACC is implemented in full with effect from 1 January 2023. The Authority notes that there have been no changes to wholesale prices in 2023 which will be impacted by this. The new rate has been applied to the Separated Accounts for 2023 and beyond.

During the period, Manx Telecom received further support from Department for Enterprise ('DfE') as the implementation of the NBP progressed. To the extent that this support is a contribution towards the infrastructure development cost of the fibre network, Manx Telecom and CURA have identified a mechanism to adjust the costs in the relevant market accordingly. The methodology, calculations and impact of the calculations are agreed with CURA.

### Regulatory developments in the prior years

The review of the Fixed Markets completed in 2019 identified that there was a requirement to recognise a 'new' market for wholesale fixed local access, and also changes to the dedicated capacity market(s) which made provision for traditional and modern interface services. In addition 2 markets which had previously been determined as Manx Telecom having Significant Market Power ('SMP'), were changed to defined markets where Manx Telecom does not have SMP. These changes were reflected in the preparation of the Separated Accounts for the 2021 period, and continued for the 2022 & 2023 Separated Accounts.

### Annex 1: Explanatory Report (continued)

### Exceptional events/methodology changes

There were no external (to the Group) events occurring in 2023 which impacted the business, except instability within markets from the Ukraine/Russia war which inflicted high inflation within the local and global economies due to the significant pressures on energy prices and this continues.

It was again noted that significant costs relating to projects connected to the development of the broadband and fibre networks were incurred during the year. As the projects have not been completed, these significant investment costs have not been recognised in the cost calculations for the relevant markets (specifically depreciation and applicable return). These costs support revenues generated in the current period, and a mechanism has been agreed to recognise the relevant costs as they are incurred.

Significant effort has been put into the methodology for the investment costs for projects which are yet to be complete. A process in which recognising costs at the invoice date was put forward in 2024 and the mechanism above is soon to be unneeded.

### Commentary on separate markets

### 1 Wholesale regulated markets with SMP

### 1.1 Wholesale call termination

### **Key Market Products**

Call services terminating on the fixed public telecommunications network.

### Trends in reported balances

Whilst costs in this market have remained consistent with prior year, revenues declined as a consequence of customers moving to other communication technologies.

### 1.2 Wholesale on-island dedicated capacity – traditional interface

### **Key Market Products**

Includes all dedicated capacity where the provision interface supports kiloline and megaline services. This market was created from the fixed market review in 2019.

### Trends in reported balances

This market relies on outdated technologies which are gradually being replaced by cheaper and more reliable alternatives. The number of services using these outdated technologies is declining.

### Annex 1: Explanatory Report (continued)

### 1.3 Wholesale broadband access

### **Key Market Products**

This market represents all wholesale broadband access services, and as a result of the fixed market review in 2019, no longer includes wholesale inputs associated with the provision of narrow band access products.

The provision of physical and non-physical connection. This market is separate from the services carried over the connection. It includes access from homes and offices. The market does not differentiate between the different connection technologies utilised in the provision of wholesale broadband services.

### Trends in reported balances

Revenues and costs have increased from the previous year, driven by the increased uptake of fibre services, and the significant impact arising from continued investment into the Broadband Access technology.

### 1.4 Wholesale mobile call termination

### **Key Market Products**

Voice call and data services terminating on the mobile network.

### Trends in reported balances

A decrease in usage of the mobile network for the carrying and terminating of data services has resulted in the transfer charge revenues for this market decreasing whilst costs have also decreased from the previous year.

### 1.5 Wholesale (fixed) local access

### **Key Market Products**

New market created as a result of the fixed market review in 2019, includes all wholesale local access products, independent of the services (e.g. dedicated capacity, narrow band, broadband, etc.) being carried. Note that this market is technology agnostic in that both copper and fibre services are provided.

### Trends in reported balances

There was a significant increase in spending due to ongoing NBP investment within 2023. This has been offset by a significant reduction in the new agreed WACC from 8.9% to 6.1% as stated above.

### Annex 1: Explanatory Report (continued)

### 1.6 Wholesale on-island dedicated capacity - modern interface

### **Key Market Products**

Includes all dedicated capacity where the provision interface does not include kiloline and megaline services (see 1.3) e.g. ethernet, carrier ethernet, etc.. This is a 'new' market arising from the fixed market review in 2019.

### Trends in reported balances

Revenues have declined as a result of competition in the market, and the impact of the loss of the IOMG ConnectMann service(s). Further material reductions in revenue are expected in this market during 2024 as a result of reductions in the Wholesale price of some services (which come into effect on 1 Jan 2024), and as a result of the completion of the IOMG ConnectMann contract.

### 2 Retail regulated markets with SMP

### 2.1 Retail on-island dedicated capacity - traditional interface

### **Key Market Products**

All dedicated capacity which provides broadly symmetric capacity between two points, where there is no switching, and the connection is dedicated to the user. The market definition includes all dedicated capacity where the provision interface supports kiloline and megaline services. This is a 'new' market arising from the fixed market review in 2019.

### Trends in reported balances

The reported revenues have remained consistent with prior year and costs have reduced slightly due to the reduction in the number of these services that are currently provided.

### 2.2 Retail fixed access

### **Key Market Products**

The provision of a physical connection from a fixed location to the public telephone network. This market is separate from the services carried over the physical connection. It includes access from homes and offices.

### Trends in reported balances

Revenues and costs within this market continue to decline as a result of the reduction to the number of fixed line services that Manx Telecom provides.